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PERRY COUNTY LAWYER SUSPENDED DUE TO CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS

On April 12, 2010, the Supreme Court of Tennessee issued an Order suspending the law license of
attorney Bobby A. McGee of Linden, Tennessee, pursuant to Section 14 of Supreme Court Rule 9 which
provides for the immediate suspension of an attorney upon the attorney’s plea of nolo contendere or plea of
guilty, or upon a finding of guilt by a jury or trial court in a criminal matter involving a serious crime. The
Court referred the matter to the Board of Professional Responsibility for the institution of a formal proceeding
in which the sole issue to be determined shall be the extent of the final discipline to be imposed as a result of the
convictions.

McGee’s suspension is based upon two criminal matters: United States of America vs. Bobby Albert
McGee, Case No. 4:07cr72-SPM, filed March 5, 2009 in the United States District Court Northern District of
Florida, Tallahassee Division; and United States of America vs. Bobby A. McGee, CR. No. 08-20189-M1, filed
August 7, 2009 in the United States District Court for the Western District of Tennessee. In the first case, a jury
found McGee guilty of two (2) counts of Using Interstate Commerce to Induce a Minor to Engage in Sexual
Activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 2422(h). In the second case, McGee pled guilty to knowingly
possessing one-hundred and eighty-five (185) child pornography computer image files in violation of 18 U.S.C
Section 2256 and 18 U.S.C. Section 2252(a)(4)(B).

As aresult of an earlier disciplinary matter, McGee’s law license was already suspended until July 19,
2011, by an Order of Enforcement entered by the Supreme Court of Tennessee on October 7, 2008.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF TENNESSEE
AT NASHVILLE

BOBBY A. McGEE, BPR #009222
An Attorney Licensed in Tennessee
(Perry County)

ILED
APR 1:2 2010

No._MS0o10-~00AAL-RP2- (P

BOPR Docket No. 2010-1916-0-CM (14)

ORDER

This matter is before the Court pursuant to Section 14 of Rule 9 of the Rules of the
Supreme Court of Tennessee, upon a certificate filed by Disciplinary Counsel for the
Board of Professional Responsibility consisting of a certified copy of the Indictment and
Order on Change of Plea in the criminal case, United States of America vs. Bobby A.
McGee, CR. No. 08-20189-M1 (attached hereto as Collective Exhibit A), filed in the
United States District Court for the Western District of Tennessee, on August 7, 2009,
demonstrating that Bobby A.. McGee, a Tennessee attorney, has pled guilty to the
following criminal offenses: knowingly possessing one-hundred and eight-five (185)
child pomography computer images files in violation of 18 U.S.C Section 2256 and 18

‘ U.S.C. Section 2252(a)(4)(B).

This matter is also before the Court Pursuant to Section 14 of Rule 9 of the Rules
of the Supreme Court of Tennessee, upon a certificate filed by Disciplinary Counse! for
the Board of professional Responsibility consisting of a certified copy of the Indictment,
Jury Verdict and Judgment in the criminal case, United States of America vs, Bobby
Albert McGee, Case No. 4:07cr72-SPM (attached hereto as Collective Exhibit B), filed in
the United States District Court Northern District of Florida Tallahassee Division, on
March 5, 2009, demonstrating that Bobby A. McGee, a Tennessee attorney, was found
guilty by jury verdict of the following criminal offenses: two (2) counis of Using
Interstate Commerce to Induce a Minor to Engage in Sexual Activity in violation of 18
U.8.C. Section 2422(h).

It is thereforc ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED by the Court:

. 'That Bobby A. McGee is suspended from the practice of law on this date
pending further orders of this Court, pursuant to Section 14 of Rule 9,
Rules of the Supreme Court of Tennessee.




That this matter be referred to the Board of Professional Responsibility for
the institution of a formal proceeding in which the sole issue to be
determined shall be the extent of the final discipline fo be imposed as a
result of the conviction.

That Bobby A. McGee shall fully comply with the provisions of Tennessee
Supreme Court Rule 9, Section 18, concerning disbarred or suspended
attorneys,

That the Board of Professional Responsibility shall cause notice of this
suspension to be published as required by Supreme Court Rule 9.

Unless otherwise provided in a future order, no action in this case shall be
effective 1o set aside or otherwise interfere with the Order of Enforcement
entered against Bobby A. McGee in Case No. M2008-02248-SC-BPR-BP
on Qctober 7, 2008, in which Mr. McGee was suspended from the practice
of law for three (3) years less ninety (90) days, such suspension being
scheduled to expire on July 19, 2011,

FOR THE COURT:

CORNELIA A. CLARK, JUSTICE




